04/17/2018

 $\begin{array}{c} {\it Ed~Smith} \\ {\it CLERK~OF~THE~SUPREME~COURT} \\ {\it STATE~OF~MONTANA} \end{array}$

Case Number: DA 17-0749

| STATE OF MONTANA |) | |
|------------------------|-------------|--|
| Plaintiffs/Appellees |)) | |
| v. |) | |
| CHALON MICHAEL KINHOLT |) | |
| Defendant, |) | |
| v. |) | |
| ASAP BAIL BONDS, |))) | |

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Cause No. DA 17-0749

APPEALLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the District Court of the Fourteenth Judicial District Musselshell County, State of Montana District Court Judge Randal Spaulding Cause No. DC-16-09

APPEARANCES:

Defendants/Appellants.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Did the District Court err by failing to consider Rule 6 of the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure, and failing to account for 3 days for mailing notification of the bail forfeiture?
- II. Did the District Court err by abusing discretion through excessive forfeiture?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 2016, the District Court entered its Warrant of Arrest (Violation of Ball Conditions) for the Defendant allegedly violating conditions of release on bail previously set by the Court. *Judgement of Forfeiture*.

On August 8, 2016, a final pretrial hearing was conducted which the Defendant was ordered to personally attend. The Defendant failed to appear. The District Court then entered an additional warrant of Arrest (Violation of Bail Conditions) for the Defendant for violating the Court's court ordered conditions of release by failing to appear at the final pretrial conference and failing to remain in contact with his attorney. *Judgement of Forfeiture*.

On or about December 22, 2016, the Defendant posted a surety bond in the amount of \$40,000 and was, presumably, released from custody. The bond was issued by ASAP Bail Bonds and underwritten by United States Fire Insurance Company. *Judgement of Forfeiture*.

The matter came before the District Court for a second final pretrial hearing on April 24, 2017 and the Defendant again failed to personally appear as ordered by the District Court. *Judgement of Forfeiture*.

On June 7, 2017, the State filed its "Petition to Forfeit Bond" requesting that the District Court forfeit the \$40,000 surety bond posted by the Defendant and his sureties on December 22, 2016 for the Defendant's failure to appear at the final pretrial hearing on April 24, 2017. *Judgement of Forfeiture*.

On June 7, 2017, the District Court entered its "Order and Notice of Forfeiture" declaring the \$40,000 bail posted by the Defendant and his sureties

forfeited for the Defendant's failure to appear at the April 24, 2017 final pretrial hearing as ordered by the Court. *Judgement of Forfeiture*.

On September 7, 2017 the State filed its "Motion for Default Judgment on the Bail Forfeiture" requesting that the District Court enter its judgment of forfeiture against the Defendant's bondsman and surety for failing to satisfactorily discharge the forfeiture previously declared by the Court within the time permitted. *Judgement of Forfeiture*.

On October 5, 2017 the District Court entered its Judgement of Forfeiture.

On October 26, 2017 ASAP Bail Bonds filed an Objection to Notice of Entry of Judgment and Entry of Forfeiture, and requested a hearing on the matter based upon application of Rule 60.

On December 14, 2017 the District Court entered its Order Re: Objection to Entry of Judgment and Entry of Forfeiture, and Motion for Hearing in which the District Court denied any remedy for ASAP Bail Bonds.

On December 26, 2017 a Notice of Appeal was filed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Michael Nicholson is the owner of ASAP Bail Bonds. Affidavit of Michael Nicholson, filed Oct 26, 2017. On December 22, 2016 Michael Nicholson bonded the defendant, Chalon Michael Kinholt, out of jail on a \$40,000 security bond. Id. A

day or two before April 24, 2007, Michael Nicholson was informed that somebody had called the Public Defender's office, stating the defendant, Chalon Kinholt, died in a horse accident in Mexico. *Id*.

On April 24, 2007, the defendant failed to appear at his pre-trial hearing. In June, 2017 the Musselshell County Attorney filed a petition to forfeit bond requesting that the \$40,000 security bond be forfeited for failure to show on the April 24, 2007 hearing. *Id.* On June 7, 2017 the district court entered an "Order & Notice of Forfeiture" on the \$40,000 bail forfeited for defendant's failure to appear on the April 24, 2007 pre-trial hearing. *Id.* On June 7, 2017 the court "Order & Notice of Forfeiture" was mailed to Michael Nicholson. However, Michael Nicholson was out of town and did not receive the notice until June 19, 2007. *Id.*

On June 20, 2007 Michael Nicholson called the clerk of courts and talked to Barb Halverson, and stated that he thought the county attorney only had 10 days to notify him of the forfeiture and the 10 days had lapsed. *Id.* On the same day Michael Nicholson called the County Attorney's Office and left the same message for County Attorney Kevin Peterson. *Id.*

Michael Nicholson started to actively pursue the defendant and had information that the defendant was hiding in Las Vegas, NV and/or ND. *Id.* Michael Nicholson also received communication from one of the defendant's victims in order

to find him. *Id.* Michael Nicholson also contacted the defendant's mother about his whereabouts. *Id.*

On September 7, 2017 Musselshell County Attorney, Kevin Peterson, filed a motion for default judgment on the bail for forfeiture. *Id.* On September 11, 2017 Michael Nicholson received notice by mail from the County Attorney's Office that his 90 days were up and that he wanted the \$40,000 bond proceeds. *Id.* On September 11, 2017, Michael Nicholson immediately called Kevin Peterson's office and informed him about the conversation he had on June 20, 2007 with Barb Halverson. *Id.* Kevin Peterson told Michael Nicholson he did not know what he was talking about and stated that he can decide whenever he wants to forfeit a bond. *Id.*

On September 11, 2017, Michael Nicholson was informed defendant was arrested on September 9, 2017 and placed in the Arapahoe County Detention Facility by Denver, Colorado. *Id.* On September 12, 2017 Michael Nicholson called Judge Spalding's office and spoke to his clerk, Derinda Hazelton and informed her the defendant was incarcerated in Colorado. *Id.* Michael Nicholson talked to Derinda and was told he needed to appear at the defendant's next court appearance. *Id.*

On September 12, 2017 Michael Nicholson faxed the clerk of court a copy of bond revocation form along with all printed communication and where the defendant was being held. *Id.* On September 12, 2017 the County Attorney's office filed a

petition to revoke and set a place and time for defendant's arraignment. Id.

On September 21, 2017 Michael Nicholson called the Judge's office and informed them Arapahoe Detention Facility started processing the defendant to send him to Montana. *Id*.

On October 4, 2017 the court entered a judgment on the \$40,000 bond. *Id.* On October 6, 2017 a notice of entry judgment was entered by Kevin Peterson, the County Attorney in Musselshell. *Id.* On October 9, 2017 Michael Nicholson received the entry of notice of entry of judgment. *Id.*

On October 10, 2017 Michael Nicholson contacted the judge's secretary and was informed the he missed the defendant's court hearing that was on October 2, 2017. *Id.* Michael Nicholson never received the order setting the court date. *Id.* Therefore, he was never given an opportunity to be heard or to justify the failure to appear under applicable Montana law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Montana Supreme Court reviews a District Court's decision to forfeit a bond for abuse of discretion. The test is whether the court acted arbitrarily. *State v. Seybert* (1988), 231 Mont. 372, 374, 353 P.2d 285.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

MCA §46-16-201 rule 6 of the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure gave an

additional three days for mailing, those days were not accounted for, defendant's apprehension fell within the 90 day window, and therefore the Petition should not have been filed or granted.

Most importantly, the Court's refusal to discharge the forfeiture must be based upon terms as may be just as required under the statute. The District Court failed to consider the factors as laid out in *Seybert*.

Last, the surety in this case was denied due process when he did not receive notice of the hearing the District Court Clerk specifically told Michael Nicholson he would have an opportunity to be heard at.

ARGUMENT

I. Did the District Court err by failing to consider Rule 6 of the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure, and failing to account for 3 days for mailing notification of the bail forfeiture?

MCA § 46-9-503 Violation of release condition – forfeiture provides:

- 1) If a defendant violates a condition of release, including failure to appear, the prosecutor may make a written motion to the court for revocation of the order of release. A judge may issue a warrant for the arrest of a defendant charged with violating a condition of release. Upon arrest, the defendant must be brought before a judge in accordance with 46-7-101.
- (2) If a defendant fails to appear before a court as required and bail has been posted, the judge may declare the bail forfeited. Notice of the order of forfeiture must be mailed to the defendant and the defendant's sureties at their last-known address within 10 working days or the bond

becomes void and must be released and returned to the surety within 5 working days.

- (3) If at any time within 90 days after the forfeiture the defendant's sureties surrender the defendant pursuant to <u>46-9-510</u> or appear and satisfactorily excuse the defendant's failure to appear, the judge shall direct the forfeiture to be discharged without penalty. If at any time within 90 days after the forfeiture the defendant appears and satisfactorily excuses the defendant's failure to appear, the judge shall direct the forfeiture to be discharged upon terms as may be just.
- (4) The surety bail bond must be exonerated upon proof of the defendant's death or incarceration or subjection to court-ordered treatment in a foreign jurisdiction for a period exceeding the time limits under subsection (3).
- (5) A surety bail bond is an appearance bond only. It cannot be held or forfeited for fines, restitution, or violations of release conditions other than failure to appear. The original bond is in effect pursuant to <u>46-9-121</u> and is due and payable only if the surety fails, after 90 days from forfeiture, to surrender the defendant or if the defendant fails to appear on the defendant's own within the same time period.

Rule 6 of Mont.R.Civ.P. – Computing and Extending Time; Time for Motion Papers provides:

- (a) Computing Time. The following rules apply in computing any time period specified in these rules, or court order, or in any statute that does not specify a method of computing time.
- (d) Additional Time after Certain Kinds of Service. When a party may or must act within a specified time after service and service is made under Rule 5(b)(2)(C), (D), or (E), or (F), <u>3 days are added after the period would otherwise expire under Rule 6(a)</u>. (Emphasis added.)

§ 46-16-201, MCA - Applicability of rules of evidence and civil rules provides:

The Montana Rules of Evidence and the statutory rules of evidence in civil actions are applicable also to criminal actions, except as otherwise provided.

In this case, the defendant missed his court date on April 24, 2017. The County Attorney failed to file a notice until June 7, 2017. This was 44 days after the defendant failed to appear. The late filing of the notice hindered ASAP Bail Bonds from finding the defendant, Chalon Michael Kinholt.

It is ASAP Bail Bonds' position that the defendant was apprehended within the 90 days set forth in §46-9-503 MCA.

Pursuant to Mont.R.Civ.P. Rule 6, when an individual or party is given notice through mail, one is entitled to an additional 3 days for mailing. The Rules of Civil Procedure do apply to criminal proceedings pursuant to §46-16-201 MCA. The defendant was apprehended in Denver, Colorado and placed in the Arapahoe County Detention Facility on September 9, 2017. According to MCA §46-16-201 rule 6 of the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure gave an additional three days for mailing in this case. Those days were not accounted for. The defendant's apprehension fell within the 90 day window and therefore, the Petition should not have been filed. In turn, the entry of judgment should have been reconsidered and was improper.

Pursuant to MCA § 46-9-510 (1)(b) the Defendant was surrendered to 'any peace officer' as the Defendant was incarcerated in a foreign jurisdiction. Montana's Code Annotated sets clear guidelines for sureties to justify non-appearance in order to prevent forfeiture. If at any time within 90 days after the forfeiture the defendant's sureties surrender the defendant pursuant to 46-9-510 or appear and satisfactorily excuse the defendant's failure to appear, the judge shall direct the forfeiture to be discharged without penalty. In this case, Mr. Nicholson was in contact with Court staff. Mr. Nicholson immediately began seeking the Defendant, and within the 90 day time limit, notified the Court of the Defendant's incarceration. Further, Mr. Nicholson took the necessary steps in order to either have the Defendant appear or to be mobilized. In this case, Mr. Nicholson took several steps in order to ensure compliance with MCA 46-9-510.

The surety was within the 90 day time limit because mailing days were not calculated. Mont.R.Civ.P. Rule 6, when an individual or party is given notice through mail, one is entitled to an additional 3 days for mailing. The Rules of Civil Procedure do apply to criminal proceedings pursuant to §46-16-201 MCA. The defendant was apprehended in in Denver, Colorado and placed in the Arapahoe County Detention Facility on September 9, 2017. According to MCA §46-16-201 rule 6 of the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure gave an additional three days for mailing in

this case. Those days were not accounted for. The defendant's apprehension fell within the 90 day window and therefore, the Petition should not have been filed. In turn, the entry of judgment should be reconsidered and ultimately overturned.

II. Did the District Court err by abusing discretion through excessive forfeiture?

Most importantly, the Court's refusal to discharge the forfeiture must be based or made upon terms as may be just as required under the statute. The statute provides for discharge of a forfeiture, upon such terms as may be just, "if... the defendant's sureties appear and satisfactorily excuse the defendant's failure to appear." It is not necessary that a reasonable excuse be provided for the failure to appear in order to justify discharging a forfeiture of bond. *State v. Musgrove* (1983), 202 Mont. 516, 659 P.2d 285. Instead, a justifiable and partial excuse is sufficient. In this case, the bondsmen was not notified for 44 days of Defendant's failure to appear. Further, he was apprehended with the 90 day time limit. For these reasons alone there is justified reason to discharge the forfeiture of the bond in the above referenced matter.

In *State v. Seybert*, the Court outlined several factors that should have been considered by the court when analyzing the discharge of the forfeiture. The court violated the due process rights of ASAP Bail Bonds by failing to provide notice of a hearing and allowing Mr. Nicholson to justify his position under M.C.A. § 46-9-

503. This hearing was the only opportunity for the District Court to analyze the factors under *Seybert*. Those factors are:

- 1. The willfulness of the Defendant's violation of bail conditions;
- 2. The surety's participation in locating or apprehending the defendant;
- 3. The cost, inconvenience, and prejudice suffered by the State because of the violation;
- 4. Any intangible cost;
- 5. The public interest in ensuring the defendant's appearance; and,
- 6. Any mitigating factors.

State v. Seybert, (1987), 229 Mont. 183,187.

In this case, these criteria call for the consideration of the chain of events leading to the forfeiture of the bond in this matter. First, the county attorney that filed for the revocation in this matter did not inform the affiant/bail bondsmen until 44 days after the Defendant failed to appear. This severely disadvantages the surety in apprehending the Defendant, which is the second factor to consider. Here, ASAP bail bonds was almost prevented from the opportunity of apprehension due to the fact that so much time had passed before anything was done to ensure the Defendant's appearance by the State.

Second, the surety in this case has done everything possible to assist in ensuring the Defendant's presence. Immediately upon notification, ASAP began the process of locating the Defendant, and ensued all costs of locating him and notifying the State as to his location. This significantly assisted with the cost and inconvenience the State faced which is factor 3 and 4 to consider under *Seybert*.

Further, equity calls for consideration of the chain of events in this case. Even after not being informed for 44 days of the Defendant's failure to appear, ASAP Bail Bonds did everything in their power to locate the Defendant. ASAP informed the State as to Defendant's location within the 90 day time limit, when the 3 days for mailing is considered within the calculation. The public policy behind each of the assurances addressed in this brief are to ensure personal appearance by Defendant's in order to ensure accountability. In this case, those same policies are soiled in the event the court denies the discharge of the forfeiture.

The order from the District Court forfeiting the bail in this case constitutes an excessive forfeiture. In *Seybert*, this Court stated, "In making this determination the court should consider not only evidence relating to damage but also the other factors and circumstances peculiar to each case. No clear rule can be set down which will guide the trial court in every case since the facts and circumstances of each individual case must be considered in their totality. No one factor will be determinative in all cases. However, it is not the purpose of bail to punish a defendant or surety, nor to increase the revenue of the state." *Seybert*, at 187.

A consideration of the peculiar facts in this case call for a just interpretation of the factors. The bond should not have been forfeited and it was an abuse of discretion by the District Court to do so.

CONCLUSION

MCA §46-16-201 rule 6 of the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure gave an additional three days for mailing, those days were not accounted for, defendant's apprehension fell within the 90 day window, and therefore the Petition should not have been filed or granted. More importantly, the District Court erred by failing to provide notice of the Hearing the Court Clerk instructed ASAP they would have an opportunity to be heard at. A failure to consider the peculiar relevant factors in this case constituted an improper and an excessive forfeiture.