IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 17-0749

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CHALON MICHAEL KINHOLT,

Defendant,

v.

ASAP BAIL BONDS,

Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Fourteenth Judicial District Court,  
Musselshell County, The Honorable Randal Spaulding, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

TIMOTHY C. FOX  
Montana Attorney General  
C. MARK FOWLER  
Assistant Attorney General  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Phone: 406-444-2026  
Fax: 406-444-3549  
cfowler@mt.gov

NATHAN J. HOINES  
ZACHARY D. KITCHIN  
Hoines Law Office, P.C.  
401 3rd Avenue North  
P.O. Box 829

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

**SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Nicholson cannot show the district court abused its discretion when it failed to discharge the forfeited bond. Nicholson errs in contending that the district court improperly forfeited the bond. Nicholson provides no supporting statutory or decisional law for his theory that the State had a duty to notify the surety immediately of the non-appearance. Nicholson provided no excuse within the time required.

The district court was not required to consider the six factors announced in this Court’s *State v. Seybert*, 229 Mont. 183, 187, 745 P.2d 687, 689 (1987) (*Seybert I*), decision because Nicholson never showed the prerequisite excuse.

In any event, the district court *did* consider the six *Seybert I* factors conscientiously and found most factors outweighed discharge. The court considered Nicholson's arguments that he had located Kinholz who was apprehended by Colorado authorities. Nicholson's argument that he had no further obligation as bondsman because of Kinholz's post forfeiture incarceration is based on a misreading of the forfeiture statutes. Nicholson's other arguments misinterpret statutory and decisional law, and this Court should reject them.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The district court properly refused to discharge the bond forfeiture where the surety ASAP/Nicholson provided no excuse for Kinholz's failure to appear as ordered by the court.**

Nicholson variously argues that the district court abused its discretion when it failed to discharge the forfeited bond. Nicholson argues that the district court improperly forfeited the bond because the State waited 44 days to ask for the forfeiture and Nicholson did not receive notice of the non-appearance for those 44 days, and in any event, Kinholz was arrested on September 9 which fell within the 90 days thus excusing the forfeiture. (Appellant's Br. at 10, 12, 14.)

Nicholson nevertheless argues that the district court should have discharged the forfeiture even where a surety fails to give an excuse but provides just terms. (See Appellant's Br. at 8.)

#### **A. Standard of review and applicable law**

When an appellant challenges a district court's decision to forfeit a bond, this Court decides, based on a review of the record, whether the district court abused its discretion when it ordered 100 percent forfeiture. *State v. Seybert*, 231 Mont. 372, 374, 753 P.2d 325, 326 (1988) (Seybert II). The test this Court employs for abuse of discretion is whether the district court acted arbitrarily. *Id.*

Lower court decisions in Montana are presumed to be correct, *State v. Aakre*, 2002 MT 101, ¶ 43, 309 Mont. 403, 46 P.3d 648, and an appellant effectively concedes an issue where the appellant offers no analysis or authority regarding why he or she believes the lower court's ruling was incorrect or that the court erred. *See Chor v. Piper, Jaffray & Hopwood*, 261 Mont. 143, 149, 862 P.2d 26, 30 (1993) (concluding that since Chor did not address an issue in her brief to this Court, she effectively conceded):

Substantial evidence should support a district court's bond forfeiture decision which must be based on the consideration of six factors:

1. The willfulness of the defendants' violation of bail conditions;
2. The surety's participation in locating or apprehending the defendants;
3. The cost, inconvenience, and prejudice suffered by the State as a result of the violation;
4. Any intangible costs;
5. The public interest in ensuring a defendant's appearance; and

6. Any mitigating factors.

*Seybert I*, 229 Mont. at 187, 745 P.2d at 689. Further, when determining the forfeiture of a bail bond, the statute does not limit a district court's discretion to actual damages. *Seybert II*, 231 Mont. at 376, 753 P.2d at 327.

**B. The district court correctly forfeited the bond.**

Montana Code Annotated §§ 46-9-501 to -512 governs the forfeiture at issue here. If a defendant violates his release conditions, his bail may be forfeited. Nicholson argues that the district court unlawfully forfeited Kinholz's bond due to Kinholz's April 24 non-appearance because the State waited 44 days before notifying Kinholz of the non-appearance. Therefore, the issue of forfeiture is thus disputed, and this Court should address this issue first.

Nicholson's argument fails for several reasons. Kinholz's April 24 non-appearance was a matter of public record for which Nicholson had constructive, if not actual, notice. The Court's minutes filed on April 24 clearly and unambiguously announced, "Defendant is not present in Court." (D.C. Doc. 34, Court Minutes dated April 24, 2017.) There can be few persons with a diligence more heightened than a surety on the hook for a \$40,000 appearance bond to learn about a defendant's non-appearance. Yet, the surety here asserts he did not know, and possibly suggests he could not have known, of Kinholz's non-appearance until

44 days later when the State moved for bond forfeiture on June 7, 2017. One phone call to the clerk of court on April 24 would have informed Nicholson he better start looking for Kinholz.

Nicholson's argument is contrary to good sense and very possibly also to time-honored tenets of law about being duly vigilant. *See, e.g.*, Mont. Code Ann. § 1-3-218 (Maxim of jurisprudence regarding vigilance. "The law helps the vigilant before those who sleep on their rights."); *cf. State v. Wirtala*, 231 Mont. 264, 268, 752 P.2d 177, 180 (1988) ("[T]he speedy trial right does not protect a defendant who makes a transparent assertion of the right or sleeps on his rights during the course of a proceeding only to belatedly to claim injustice as the day of reckoning draws near.")

Moreover, Nicholson asserts without any citation to statutory or decisional law, that the State wrongly waited 44 days to file its request for bond forfeiture. Nothing in the statute restricts the State to a timeline in requesting forfeiture. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-9-503(1) ("If a defendant violates a condition of release, including failure to appear, the prosecutor may make a written motion to the court for revocation of the order of release. A judge may issue a warrant for the arrest of a defendant charged with violating a condition of release."). Without citation to authorities or even a reasonable supporting discussion of his position about the State's 44-day delay, Nicholson waives and thus forfeits his argument that the

State somehow violated the law by the timing of its motion for bond forfeiture. It is not appropriate on direct appeal to make an assertion of law and essentially ask the Court or the State to go figure it out. *See Emery v. Federated Foods*, 262 Mont. 83, 87, 863 P.2d 426, 429 (1993) (failing to brief issue on appeal results in waiver); *State v. Austad*, 197 Mont. 70, 97, 641 P.2d 1373, 1388 (1982) (declaring it will decline to consider “bald assertions” of error). “It is not this Court’s job to conduct legal research” for the appellant or to engage in guesswork “or to develop legal analysis that may lend support to that position.” *Johansen v. Department of Nat’l Res. & Conserv.*, 1998 MT 51, ¶ 24, 288 Mont. 39, 955 P.2d 653.

Further, this Court should not countenance Nicholson’s unsubstantiated conclusory assertions he is entitled to relief because he was prejudiced in those 44 days. Nicholson points to nothing in this record that substantiates his alleged prejudice. In any event, his bald claim of prejudice makes no sense. The critical time frame for a surety facing forfeiture is the 90-day window after receiving formal notice of forfeiture. The State met its statutory burden of proving notice of the forfeiture; it had no duty to notify the surety of the non-appearance as this Court has held, the State is not the surety’s surety and has no duty to remedy the surety’s breach of contract. *Seybert I*, 229 Mont. at 186, 745 P.2d at 689

(also stating the State need only refrain from obstructing or interfering with surety's efforts, and failure to seek extradition did not constitute such interference).

Seen in the proper light, Nicholson had 44 days to apprehend Kinholz or come forward and make excuses for his non-appearance. Nicholson apparently did not take advantage of his 44 bonus days because he failed to make himself aware of Kinholz's non-appearance or, having had the formal notice, do anything within the statutorily allotted 90 days to take action. Nicholson under these circumstances can hardly sustain even a conclusory claim of prejudice.

It is neither the State's nor this Court's duty to argue against a presumptively correct lower court ruling. Because Nicholson provides no factual or legal grounds demonstrating that the district court committed any error, the court's decision that the bond forfeiture was lawful in the instant case remains correct. *See In re T.H.*, 2005 MT 237, ¶ 43, 328 Mont. 428, 121 P.3d 541 (refusing to address an argument not supported by legal authority as required by appellate rules); *see also* Mont. R. App. P. 12(1)(g) (providing that the argument section of an appellant's brief "shall contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons therefor, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and pages of the record relied on.")

**C. Because Nicholson failed to show the prerequisite excuse, the district court correctly denied the requested forfeiture discharge.**

Montana Code Annotated § 46-9-503(2) (2017) provides as follows:

If a defendant fails to appear before a court as required and bail has been posted, the judge may declare the bail forfeited. Notice of the order of forfeiture must be mailed to the defendant and the defendant's sureties at their last-known address within 10 working days or the bond becomes void and must be released and returned to the surety within 5 working days.

*Id.* Here, the Notice of the Order of Forfeiture of June 7, 2018, was served on Nicholson on the same day of issuance. (D.C. Doc. 37 at 2.)

Upon forfeiture, a surety may move the district court to discharge the forfeiture under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-9-503(3) (2017). Montana Code Annotated § 46-9-503(3) (2017) imposes two conditions on the surety: (1) appear within 90 days of the forfeiture; *and* (2) satisfactorily excuse the bail jumper's failure to appear as ordered by the court. Should Nicholson have met both conditions, the district court in its discretion could have discharged the forfeiture on such terms as may be just. Here, Nicholson failed to take any action and thus met neither of the two statutory requirements.

However, Nicholson asserts he was entitled to the 3-day rule under Mont. R. Civ. P. 6, effectively extending the statutory 90 days starting and ending June 7 to September 5, to ending September 8. Since Kinholz was arrested in Colorado on September 9, Nicholson says he met the excuse required under the statue to

discharge the forfeiture. Multiple flaws plague Nicholson's positions. Kinholz's September 9 arrest was outside the 90 days and outside even the 93 days Nicholson to which Nicholson says he was entitled. Moreover, a defendant's arrest within 90 days does not fulfil the statutory discharge requirements. The statute instructs a surety to appear in court within 90 days and satisfactorily excuse the bail jumper's failure to appear as ordered by the court. A defendant's arrest fulfills neither ground.

Nicholson's 3-day Rule 6 argument is facially erroneous given that Rule 6(a) states its rules apply to "***any statute that does not specify a method of computing time.***" Mont. R. Civ. P. 6(a) (emphasis supplied). Here, the governing forfeiture and forfeiture discharge statute, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-9-503 (2017), most certainly specifies a method of computing time. Section 46-9-503(2) (2017) starts the computation by designating the service of notice of the order of forfeiture. Section 46-9-503(3) (2017) specifies an unqualified timeframe of 90 days from the forfeiture, where if certain consequential actions or non-actions take place, the forfeiture is either made final or is discharged. Since Rule 6(a) states its rules apply to statutory timeframes only if the statute does not specify a method of computing time, Rule 6(a) bars application of the Rule 6(b) 3-day rule to the forfeiture and forfeiture discharge statute.

Nicholson did not attempt to produce excuses for Kinholz's failure to appear on April 24 within the statutory timeframes allowing for discharge. Accordingly, since Nicholson could provide no excuse to the district court, the district court correctly confirmed the absolute bond forfeiture by Order dated December 14, 2018. (D.C. Doc. 62.)

An "excuse" for nonappearance is a prerequisite to a district court's consideration of the six *Seybert I* factors. *Seybert I*, 229 Mont. at 183, 745 P.2d at 688 (confirming the holding in *State v. Musgrove*, 202 Mont. 516, 659 P.2d 285 (1983) (*Musgrove II*) that a defendant or surety has the burden of demonstrating a "satisfactory excuse" before *any* discharge may be ordered). The State is not arguing here that a surety must provide a *complete* excuse before any discharge may be considered. Nicholson, at minimum, must have provided *some* excuse. Here, Nicholson provided none.

Nicholson apparently suggests that the district court could have discharged a forfeiture absent showing any excuse if the terms are just. (Appellant's Br. at 12-15.) As authority for this argument, Nicholson relies on *Musgrove II*. Contrary to Nicholson's assertion, *Musgrove II* does not stand for the rule that a court has power to discharge forfeiture absent *any* excuse. (Appellant's Br. at 12.)

The issue before this Court in *Musgrove II* was whether a forfeiture requires a district court to find a *complete* excuse before it can order even a partial

discharge. *Musgrove II*, 202 Mont. at 520, 659 P.2d at 287. This Court answered the issue negatively. *Id.* The surety in *Musgrove II* had at least proved a partial excuse that could predicate a partial discharge. *Id.* This holding is distinguishable from the facts here where Nicholson provided entirely no excuse. It follows Nicholson was not entitled to argue any of the six *Seybert I* factors for the diminution of forfeiture. Further, the district court was not required to consider the six *Seybert I* factors and could have summarily granted 100 percent forfeiture without further consideration. This appeal can end here.

Nevertheless, the district court did consider the six *Seybert I* factors. The court's action was superfluous and does not diminish the fact that Nicholson was not entitled to the court's further consideration. *See, e.g., Major v. North Valley Hosp.*, 233 Mont. 25, 28, 759 P.2d 153, 155 (1988) (stating that the inclusion of findings of fact in the district court's summary judgment order was unnecessary and redundant and was not reversible error); *see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 1-3-228 (stating legal maxim that superfluity does not vitiate). The district court's consideration of the six *Seybert I* factors is a testament to the conscientious and reasonable application of its discretion. *Cf. Ingraham v. State*, 284 Mont. 481, 945 P.2d 19, 22 (1997) (stating an abuse of discretion occurs when a district court acts arbitrarily without conscientious judgment or exceeds the bounds of reason).

**D. Even if Nicholson had shown the prerequisite excuse, he cannot show any abuse of discretion or arbitrary action by the district court.**

For the sake of argument, even if Nicholson were entitled to the consideration of the six *Seybert I* factors, Nicholson cannot show an abuse of discretion. Nicholson argues that he had located Kinholz because of his Colorado arrest and, therefore, the surety had no further obligation as bondsman, relying separately on Mont. Code Ann. § 46-9-503(4) and Mont. Code Ann. § 46-9-510 (2017). The district court considered Nicholson’s arrest and delivery of Kinholz. (D.C. Doc. 62 at 5.) The court apparently decided that this factor did not have sufficient weight to overcome Kinholz’s nonappearance, Nicholson’s failure to offer an excuse, and the necessity of promoting the interests of ensuring defendants appear in court when they are required.

Nicholson’s reliance on Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-9-503(4) and -510 is misplaced. Montana Code Annotated § 46-9-510 states, in pertinent part:

At any time ***before the forfeiture of bail*** . . . the surety company may arrest the defendant and surrender the defendant to the court.

*Id.* (Emphasis supplied.) Montana Code Annotated § 46-9-510 (2017) has no application here because that statute merely allows a surety company to arrest Kinholz before forfeiture. Here, Kinholz’s reincarceration occurred on September 9, and thus ***after*** the court had ordered forfeiture. (D.C. Doc. 49.)

Nicholson's reliance on Mont. Code Ann. § 46-9-503(4) (2017) is similarly misplaced because Kinholz's bail had been forfeited on June 7, 2016. Forfeiture having occurred, Nicholson had the responsibility to excuse to the court's satisfaction Kinholz's failure to appear. Montana Code Annotated § 46-9-503(4) (2017) does not contemplate that the court exonerate a surety's duties after the bond has been forfeited. The legislature designed the statutory bond forfeiture scheme to ensure a defendant's *appearance* in court when ordered by the court.

*See Seybert I*, 229 Mont. at 185, 745 P.2d at 688. It would defeat the purpose of the bond forfeiture statute to allow an exoneration of the surety's duties to assure a defendant's appearance if, after a defendant jumps bail, all the surety has to do is return him to incarceration.

Also, bond exoneration is distinguishable from forfeiture discharge. Bond exoneration relieves a surety from his duties in the absence of any breach or when a forfeiture has been discharged. *See generally* 8 Am. Jur. 2d Bail and Recognizance §§125 (2007), 144 (1980) (discussing exoneration and forfeitures); *see also, e.g.*, Fed. R. Crim. P. 46(f) ("When the condition of the bond has been satisfied or the forfeiture thereof has been set aside or remitted, the court shall exonerate the obligors and release any bail."). A forfeiture discharge excuses a

breach. Nicholson's remedy here was to argue for an excuse of his contractual breach, not ask to be discharged from his primary obligation.<sup>2</sup>

The court allowed Nicholson multiple opportunities to discharge the forfeiture. Kinholz himself appeared later in the district court on October 2, 2017. (10/2/17 Hr'g Tr. at 5-8.) He offered no justification or excuse for his failure to appear on April 24, 2017. The court heard Nicholson's untimely motion for reconsideration which again failed to provide any excuse for Kinholz's nonappearance. In sum, the district court properly exercised its discretion when it refused to discharge the forfeiture after Nicholson appeared and failed to provide any excuse.

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